1950

LaVar Park v. Moorman Manufacturing Company and Gail Barron : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff in this action is engaged in the chicken business in Riverton, Utah (R. 120), and the defendant Moorman Manufacturing Company is a corporation organized in Illinois, and engaged in the business of the manufacture and sale of various feeds for poultry and livestock. (See R. 627 et seq.) The plaintiff alleges in his complaint that on or about June 9, 1948, defendant Gail Barron

contacted plaintiff at his residence in Riverton and represented himself to be a salesman for the Moorman Manufacturing Company, and represented further that the company was selling a protein concentrate for chickens which would save considerable time, effort and expense in the feeding of chickens. (R. 1-5) The new feed was sold under the trade name "Poultry Mintrate 40". It is a concentrate intended to be fed with other feeds. (R. 621)

The plaintiff's suit is really based upon three theories. The first is that plaintiff made a written agreement with the defendant through its agent guaranteeing certain results through the use of "Mintrate 40" and the "self-feed" method of feeding. The second theory is that of a breach of express warranties under the Uniform Sales Act. The third theory is that the defendant breached the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose, as defined under the Sales Act. The trial court refused recovery under the first of these three theories because plaintiff failed in his proof. (Instruction No. 2; R. 79) Recovery was permitted under either or both of the other two. (Instructions 14, 15 and 16; R. 87-89)

Because one of the theories upon which recovery was permitted was that of express warranty, the conversations between Barron and Park are set forth in some detail under Point I of this brief. In substance they were to the effect that the Moorman Manufacturing Company was offering a new feed to save chicken men time and money; that chickens using this feed would not moult and would produce not less than 65% and that there had been better results than that. (R. 126-127) Barron said that the new feed had been tried numerous times and that it had been

proved to be the equal or superior of any feed now on the market. (Ibid)

Two methods of feeding chickens were described in the testimony. The "mash" method consists in keeping mash before the birds at all times, and feeding scratch once a day on the floor of the coops. Alfalfa and grit are often fed also. The "self-feed" or cafeteria method consists in keeping concentrate and oats or barley before the birds at all times, with grit or some other form of calcium, and feeding scratch, grain, wheat or corn on a limited basis. (R. 624) The scratch is scattered on the floor of the coops. The testimony is that Barron recommended the "self-feed" method to Park.

Apparently the plaintiff believed that the "self-feed" method was revolutionary in the poultry business. He stated without hesitation in cross-examination that this lawsuit is based upon the idea that there is something wrong with the method. (R. 238, 239)

After the plaintiff had agreed to use the new feed by this method for part of his chickens, but before any feed had arrived (R. 135-136), Barron wrote out a statement on a scratch pad in which he purported to speak for the Moorman Manufacturing Company. This written statement is as follows (Exhibit C):

"It is agreed that the LaVar Park feeds approximately 2850 laying hens in accordance with the 'self-feed' sponsored by the Moorman Manufacturing Company. It is further agreed that in the event of these birds failing to produce an equal amount of eggs for the same food costs as his other hens, now on a different method of feeding, the Moorman Manufacturing Company will reimburse

Mr. Park the entire amount of the money difference.

In the event of sickness an uninterested veterinary will be secured by Mr. Park and the representative of the Moorman Manufacturing Company, and the cause of the sickness will be determined. In the event that the illness is caused by the feeding program, the Moorman Manufacturing Company will reimburse Mr. Park for his loss. In the event of illness by some other cause the Moorman Manufacturing Company will not be responsible.

This agreement is entered into on the 19th of June, 1948.

Signed—Gail Barron
Moorman Manufacturing Co.
Representative.”

The detailed circumstances surrounding the execution of this writing are not here discussed, because in the first place there was no proof of the kind required under the first paragraph of the writing, and in the second place, no veterinary was obtained, as agreed upon. The document was admitted by the Court on the theory that it tended to corroborate the plaintiff's testimony as to the oral representations. (R. 140)

Plaintiff purported to state three causes of action in his complaint. The First Cause of Action set forth the statements and representations made by Barron to plaintiff, and then stated that they were untrue; “that said feed together with the method of feeding was not as good or better than feeds now on the market and that by reason of the false representations and warranties of the defendant and reliance thereon by the plaintiff, plaintiff was

damaged. (R. 1-3) The Second Cause of Action stated that by reason of the false representations and warranties, plaintiff had lost "more than half of 2850 hens which he originally placed on the "Mintrate 40" through culling and deaths and as a result thereof will be greatly damaged through the loss of egg production in the future", and that he was damaged in an additional amount as loss of profits. (R. 3, 4) The Third Cause of Action, which was filed after the first pre-trial conference pleaded a breach of the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose under the Sales Act. (R. 39, 30)

Defendant Gail Barron was never served and did not appear as party to the action, although he testified as one of the plaintiff's witnesses.

When Park met Barron, the plaintiff was alarmed over picking in his young chickens; in fact, Barron first sold him some minerals to stop the picking. This was before Mintrate was discussed. (R. 179-180)

The conversation concerning the qualities of "Mintrate" occurred around the middle of June, 1948. Soon after, the plaintiff put 2850 chickens on defendant's feed and the method of feeding advocated by Barron, and kept approximately 3500 on the mash method and the kind of feed he had been using. (R. 142-143) At first he was satisfied with the results of the Mintrate. (R. 144) In about three weeks his production on these birds had risen to approximately 63½ %. (R. 144) At about that time he began to notice an unusual amount of picking, and his testimony is that the picking occurred much more severely in the Mintrate pens than in the conventional feed pens. (R. 146-148) He states that some of the Mintrate

chickens lost weight and that many of them died, but he was unable to produce any figures from which could be ascertained the relative deaths during the months of July, August and September. He used the feed and feeding method until approximately August 18th, when it was discontinued. (R. 148)

From the time of the first picking in his chickens—before he fed Mintrate—to the time of the trial, a period in excess of sixteen months, plaintiff never consulted a veterinary concerning the illness or loss of production in his flocks. His only evidence as to the cause of the picking, deaths and loss of production in his birds was that three chicken producers in Salt Lake besides himself testified that they conducted similar operations during the time involved and comparable numbers of chickens were placed on their usual diet and feeding program and on the “self-feed” and “Mintrate 40” by each of these witnesses. Although none of these witnesses had figures any more reliable than Park, they were permitted to testify in substance and effect that the chickens on the mash program prospered while the birds on the “Mintrate” using the “self-feed” plan became ill.

There was absolutely no testimony by the plaintiff that tended to show that any deleterious substances were used in Poultry Mintrate 40, although plaintiff did admit that the sample of the feed was being tested. All of the testimony by persons who had had any experience with the “self-feed” method was that the method was sound, and that when it was properly used it gave excellent results. (See testimony of Dr. Wallace Emslie, R. 495-530; Dr. C. I. Draper, R. 626-636) The “self-feed” method was

extensively tested by a number of state universities, with the result that it was highly recommended. (See testimony of plaintiff's witness, Wood, on cross examination, R. 380-381, 391-393.)

There is likewise nothing in the record from which the jury could have inferred that the contents of Mintrate 40 are not entirely satisfactory and proper for chickens. The defendant feed company takes great care in maintaining the proper proportion of ingredients in the feed. This formula is based upon scientific principles and sound poultry practice. No witness testified that the ingredients in the feed are not wholesome and nutritious. All of the testimony that was produced, in fact, is to the effect that the feed is entirely proper for chickens, and that it will sustain and improve laying hens. The plaintiff's testimony that his chickens "starved to death" by eating too much Mintrate and too much oats is absolutely ridiculous.

It is interesting that one of plaintiff's witnesses stated that he was acquainted with the use of "Mintrate 40" in the mash method of feeding, but that he had not previously tried it under the "Self-Feed" plan. His testimony was that under the mash method the feed was successful and satisfactory. Plaintiff himself said he believed that it was the feed and combination of the oats that produced the unfortunate results. (R. 238-239) At another place in his testimony plaintiff states that his chickens starved to death from eating too much oats. (R. 187) Plaintiff's objections were to the quantity of oats. (R. 239)

It is not contended that the defendant Moorman Manufacturing Company sold plaintiff any oats. Nor is

there any evidence to the effect that chickens fed oats alone would die from starvation. On the contrary, oats is the best single grain for chickens (See testimony of Emslie, Draper and Wood, R. 495-530, 626-636, and 380-381, 391-393, respectively).

Some time around the middle of August, 1948, the defendant company learned that plaintiff was dissatisfied with the results he was obtaining, and it sent its manager of the service department, Roger Mittelberg (sometimes spelled "Mittleberg" in the record), to investigate. Mr. Mittelberg did not learn that plaintiff had been guaranteed any results or that plaintiff claimed that defendant was liable for breach of warranty until August 28th. On this date he saw for the first time the writing heretofore referred to. He and Park ended their discussion in a very unfriendly attitude. Mittelberg's testimony was that he told Park the company was not bound by the writing or anything that Barron said. (R. 799-801) Park hedges somewhat on the words used but he testifies that he definitely got the impression that the company did not consider itself liable. (R. 205, 239) At that time plaintiff had ceased using the feed and was back on the mash method. (R. 204)

Plaintiff's attempted proof of damages is somewhat involved, and it will be discussed in more detail under Point V of this brief. At this place we will say simply that he hoped to recover not only for loss of chickens during the time they were fed "Mintrate 40" under the feeding method indicated right up until the time of the trial, but in addition thereto he asked for damages on the theory that the birds which died would have laid a

certain number of eggs if they had lived, and that he should be permitted to recover the value of those eggs.

During the spring, summer and fall of 1948, plaintiff's birds were infected with chicken-pox (R. 193, 199), tracheitis, pullorum, big liver (R. 186) and Newcastle. (R. 206) All of the diseases except Newcastle and big liver were in the chickens before July. Big liver was present to some extent throughout the entire summer and fall, but because plaintiff had no expert help with his chickens nobody was able to say exactly the extent to which the deaths were contributable to this disease. Newcastle hit his flocks during the latter part of September and the early part of October. At this time the birds went into a moult. Plaintiff was unable to say how many of his chickens died from picking, how many died from Newcastle, how many were lost from big liver or other causes. His only counts in fact were at the time he moved the 2850 across the road, about June 1, 1948, and on December 4, 1948. (R. 274)

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

POINT NO. I. THE COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE CASE TO THE JURY UPON THE THEORY OF EXPRESS WARRANTY.

A. *No statement of fact was made to Park such as constituted an express warranty.*

B. *Park did not rely on any oral representation.*

C. *The alleged statement of fact submitted to the jury as a warranty was not proved to be untrue when made.*

POINT NO. II. THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE JURY TO FIND EITHER (A) THAT BARRON HAD EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AUTHORITY TO MAKE ANY WARRANTY WHATSOEVER CONCERNING DEFENDANT'S FEED, OR (B) THAT MOORMAN MANUFACTURING COMPANY RATIFIED ANY STATEMENT OR WARRANTY MADE BY BARRON, OR (C) THAT MOORMAN MANUFACTURING COMPANY WAS ESTOPPED TO DENY THE AUTHORITY OF BARRON TO MAKE ANY STATEMENT OR WARRANTY.

A. There was no express authority to make any statements as warranties; there was no implied authority to make any such statements inasmuch as the proof by both plaintiff and defendant is unequivocal and clear that such statements as are relied on by the plaintiff are unusual and not customary.

B. Defendant Moorman Manufacturing Company is not bound by the statements or representations of fact, if any, of Barron on the theory of ratification.

C. There was no justification for submitting this case to the jury upon the theory that the Moorman Manufacturing Company is estopped to deny liability for the statements of Barron, or for his authority to make any statements or warranties allegedly on behalf of this defendant.

POINT NO. III. THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT DEFENDANT IS LIABLE IN THE THEORY OF BREACH OF EXPRESS AND IMPLIED WARRANTIES AS TO THE METHOD OF FEEDING AS DISTINGUISHED FROM THE FEED ITSELF.

POINT NO. IV. THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE INFERENCE THAT PLAINTIFF'S

LOSS, IF HE HAD ANY, WAS THE PROXIMATE RESULT OF THE USE OF EITHER POULTRY MINTRATE 40 OR THE SELF-FEED METHOD OF FEEDING, OR BOTH.

POINT NO. V. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EXHIBIT C.

POINT NO. VI. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS THEORY OF DAMAGES.

A. The Court erred in permitting recovery based upon the loss of chickens and, in addition, the loss of profits from the dead chickens.

B. The evidence with reference to loss of profits was remote and conjectural. It lacked the definiteness and completeness required by law for proof of this nature of damages. The Court, therefore erred in permitting the case to go to the jury upon the theory of loss of profits.

C. The procedure in the trial with respect to proof was prejudicial to defendant's cause.

D. In instructing upon damages, the Court failed to take into consideration the intervening causes which the evidence of the plaintiff shows to have proximately caused or proximately contributed to the deaths and/or loss of production, if any, in plaintiff's chickens, and the Court failed to instruct the jury properly upon the duty of the plaintiff to minimize his loss.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

THE COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE CASE TO THE JURY UPON THE THEORY OF EXPRESS WARRANTY.

The Court instructed the jury that the plaintiff could recover upon either of two basic theories. (Instruction No. 14; R. 87) The first theory was that of breach of express warranty. The second theory was that of breach of an implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose. (Instruction No. 18; R. 88, 89) The fallacies of the second theory are pointed out in the brief under the heading dealing with proximate causation. We desire to point out under the present heading that there is no basis in law for submitting the case to the jury on the theory of express warranties under the Sales Act.

The first essential for recovery based upon the theory of express warranty is that the seller must have made a statement of fact as distinguished from a statement of opinion or "puffing" or "dealers' talk" or predictions or broken promises. The theory of express warranty in the law of sales grew out of the theory of fraud in the law of torts. In both situations, recovery is based upon the making of a statement of fact, an act in reliance on the statement, and the falsity of the statement. In this case neither of these elements was present. There was no statement of fact, no reliance, and no proof that any statement made was untrue at the time of its utterance.

A. No statement of fact was made to Park such as constitutes an express warranty.

The Court's attention is here invited to statements, according to plaintiff and his witnesses, made by Gail Barron to Mr. Park as alleged inducements for the sale. Mr. Park testified: "He said there would be no moulting from fifteen or eighteen months over the laying period of

a chicken, and they would never lay below sixty-five per cent, and that there had been better results than that; that one woman was supposed to have got ninety per cent." In response to the question, "What did he say about this particular method of feeding?" Park said, "Well, he said there were three ways to feed and the number one method was the easiest, and that is what they recommended mostly was the number one feeding program." (R. 126, 127) To the question, "Did he make any other statement concerning this feed during that time?", Park said: "Well, just that it was a good feed and thought well of, that is about all." (R. 128)

Mrs. Park stated the conversation as follows:

"A. So I walked over to them and he asked me what I thought of it. I told him I did not know anything about the mintrate or his feed plan, and he said:

'Well, Mrs. Park, it is cheaper feed, and it will stop the pick-outs and blow-outs. It will make your chickens pay 65 per cent or more, from 10 to 15 months.'

I said: 'That is pretty good feed, then.'

He said: 'Don't you believe in feeding it?'

I said: 'Well, I never decided things like that for my husband.'

He said: 'I will give him a written guaranty'—or something of that order. With that conversation I said: 'That is entirely up to him.'

Q. Was anything said about other persons having used this feed and obtained results?

A. Well, he just said they had others use it. He did not tell me, and I did not bother to ask him." (R. 512)

Later Mrs. Park said, "Well, he was just telling me how good the feed was, what it was supposed to do. I believe he did mention moulting." (R. 513)

Gail Barron testified that he told Park:

"A. I told him what I had been told, and in addition I had pamphlets—the pamphlets I hold here, which he read. I explained the method as it was used. I explained that it did not require having a grinding machine or mixing machine, because this method eliminated that, and it did not require that he buy his mash from commercial sources; and that in this way, on this plan, he would be able to feed his birds cheaper. It would cost him less money.

Q. Did you say anything about the extent of lay that could be expected from the mintrate birds of this type?

A. I told him the birds had not laid under 65 per cent. I told him that and made the statement based on what I had heard—not that I had seen it personally or knew it personally myself.

Q. Based on whose statement?

A. On Mr. McCullough's statement and Mr. McArthur's statement.

Q. Did you tell him anything about what he could expect?

A. That he could expect to get 65 per cent or better in view of the fact that anyone else using it did that, and he could expect to get it.

Q. Did you compare this with other feeds?

A. Yes. We discussed—Mr. Park and myself, we discussed it completely in every detail. We

spent the biggest part of one day talking about this feed, in relation to other feeds and other methods.

Q. What did you tell him about this feed in relation to other methods?

A. That it was simpler, that it was less expensive, that his chickens, if he fed them on this feed, on the method they described, the chickens would not moult and that he could expect a 15 months lay without a moult.

Q. Did you say anything about the manner of feeding, other than what is stated in the pamphlets?

A. Yes, this manner of feeding makes it easier. All you do is to fill the hoppers, and you can fill them clear full, then you don't need to feed the chickens again till the hoppers are about empty. You don't have to go into the coops with buckets of feed."

It is submitted that the statements testified to by these witnesses, considered as a whole and in their context, merely constitute "puffing" or "dealer's talk" or predictions. Such statements do not furnish a basis for recovery upon the theory of express warranty.

In *De Zeeuw v. Fox Chemical Company* (1920), 189 Iowa 1195, 179 N. W. 605, the seller of a hog remedy stated to a prospective purchaser that the remedy would improve the growth and condition of hogs. Plaintiff alleged in his complaint that he relied on this statement as a warranty and that defendant's feed did not improve the growth and condition of the animals, but, rather, resulted in their deaths. The trial court declined to direct a verdict for the defendant, and after the jury had re-

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