1950

LaVar Park v. Moorman Manufacturing Company and Gail Barron : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

According to Instruction No. 2 plaintiff was not allowed to recover under the terms of the written agreement (Exhibit (C)) because the Court found there was insufficient proof of the comparative feed costs as required under paragraph 1 of the agreement (R. 705). The denial of recovery was not predicated upon any ruling with respect to Barron's authority to execute the written guaranty.

While plaintiff is of the opinion that under the evidence Barron had authority to execute the written guaranty, that question is not here presented. The only question is whether Barron had authority to make the oral representations relied upon by the plaintiff.

In this connection, it is submitted that evidence establishing Barron's authority to give a written guaranty tends to prove that he also had power to make oral representations along the same general lines as the guaranty, upon the theory that the larger power includes the lesser. The reverse, however, would not appear to be true. That is to say, if it is found, particularly under the theory of implied warranty, that Barron lacked authority to enter into a written contract guaranteeing definite results, it does not follow therefrom, as appellant contends on p. 39 of its brief, that Barron did not have implied power to make oral representations within the scope of his authority as a sales agent.

A. There was sufficient evidence to find that Barron had express or implied authority to make oral representations.

1. *Express Authority.* As has been related in the Statement of Facts above, Barron did not execute the guaranty agreement

before asking his superior, the District Sales Manager of Utah, Mr. McArthur, for authority to execute it. Mr. McArthur replied that he would first have to obtain the approval of his superior, Mr. McCullough, the State Sales Manager of the defendant for Utah, Idaho, and parts of Nevada. McArthur called him on the telephone at his home in Idaho and was told by McCullough that "by all means you could guarantee it under those circumstances to anyone," and that the company "would equal the production of any competitive feed." (R. 286, 300). Thereupon McArthur told Barron—and Mr. Park—that McCullough had authorized the giving of a guaranty to Park.

McCullough, who was sick in bed when his deposition was taken, denied that he had given such authority (R. 849). However, since he denied having knowledge of just about every occurrence at sales meetings and elsewhere which were testified to by other witnesses, his testimony was evidently not given much weight by the jury. Also, there was evidence of rifts within the company, of disagreements between Mittelberg and McCullough with respect to the claims that had been made for the self-feed method, a definite reversal of McCullough by Mittelberg on the point that chickens on their feed would not moult, which occurred at the sales meeting of July 19 (R. 419-420, 447-448), and finally McCullough was, after the events at Park's place, at least temporarily released from his position in the defendant company (R. 851-852). This may have been an additional reason for his disclaiming any knowledge of the guaranty. The telephone company testified for defendant that there had

been no call between McArthur and McCullough at the time in question, but stated that its records covered collect calls only, and that there had been some telephone conversations between McArthur and McCullough later in June, 1948 (R. 746-747).

This was sufficient evidence for the jury to find that McCullough had expressly authorized Barron through McArthur to give the guaranty.

Appellant insists, however, that any authority to guarantee had to come all the way from the head office of the company in Quincey, Illinois. This, it is submitted, is not a correct view of the law. The evidence is clear that McCullough was not a special agent, but a general agent of the company with power to recruit salesmen, to hold training programs and instruct salesmen as to the quality of the feed and the self-feed method, and in general to do anything necessary and proper to advance the business of the company in the territory assigned to him. He had no special instructions from the company, as Mr. Holmes testified, "other than would be considered in the normal trend of business" (R. 615-616). Particularly did he have no special instructions with respect to the giving or authorizing of guarantees or warranties. If there was actually a policy of the company which did not permit guarantees or warranties, it was never brought to the attention of its sales managers or agents. As Mittelberg testified, the sales instructions were silent in this respect and contained neither a permission nor a prohibition (R. 803). At the time in question the company was particularly interested in extending its sales to the State of Utah. McArthur testified in this respect:

"This chicken business—at the itme I was made manager, we had very little business in the chicken feeding, and Mr. Tolley, who preceeded me, had tried several times to get into the Salt Lake area and the Utah County area where there were a lot of chickens, and had not been very successful; and Mr. McCullough, after I was made district manager, continually impressed me with the fact that we had to get in and get some of this business down here. It was a million-dollar busines, and it was going by" (R. 291-292).

It is submitted that McCullough within the scope of his powers as general sales manager had authority to authorize guaranties which he found helpful in the drive to introduce defendant's feed into this area; and that he had good reason to assume that obtaining a customer with as large a flock as Park's, by means of a written guaranty if need be, would be most beneficial for these purposes.

If the written guaranty was thus found to be expressly authorized under the evidence, it is submitted that power to make an oral warranty along the same lines can be inferred therefrom, as has been pointed out before. While the writing guarantees the production of "an equal amount of eggs" by the Mintrate birds as is produced by Park's other birds, from the practical standpoint of a poultry man the 65% production figure means just about the same. To him a 65% yield signifies nothing more than good or adequate production, approximately the same level of production that he knew from experience that he had achieved before. (The evidence discloses that the Larro birds had an 85% egg yield for a good part of the period in question). It was not so much the 65% figure, which only assured him of adequate

results, but its combination with the more simple and more economical feeding method which finally persuaded Park to make the purchase.

2. *Implied authority.* (a) The most obvious source of Barron's authority to make the oral warranty is found in the instructions he received by McCullough and McArthur during the salesmen's training meetings and from McCullough personally. McCullough's authority to give instructions is admitted by Mr. Mittelberg in his testimony (R. 803, 811-812). The testimonies of Barron and McArthur are positive to the effect that the salesmen were told that the feed had been tried numerous times and that there had always been a minimum of 65% egg yield when the hens were fed Mintrate in the self-feed manner (R. 398-402, 282-285). There was evidence that this statement, together with the other representations described in the Statement of Facts above, were intended to be repeated to prospective customers. As a matter of fact, McArthur accompanied Barron on his first sales trips and Barron heard him make the statement as to 65% minimum egg lay to a prospective customer (R. 406-407). This was sufficient evidence for the jury to find, in accordance with Instruction No. 11, together with Instruction No. 15 (I-C), that Barron had authority to make the representations he made to Park.

It is submitted that Instruction No. 11, which is criticized by appellant on p. 44 of its brief because it uses the term "estoppel," correctly states the law which the jury was charged to apply, and that it is immaterial whether the particular type

of authority referred to was labelled implied authority, apparent authority, or authority by estoppel.

In his connection, the attention of the Court is invited to the following statement by Mechem on Agency, 2nd Ed., Vol. 1, sec. 723, p. 512:

"There is, in many places, a tendency to include under the one head of 'apparent powers' those deduced from usage or from the character in which the agent is authorized to act, and also those resulting from estoppel. In very many cases it is entirely immaterial practically, because there is enough in the proof to satisfy the requirements of either rule; and in many cases also usage and estoppel may unite to account for the powers exercised."

See also the diagram on p. 515 of the same work where apparent authority is listed as being based on the theory of estoppel.

(b) Furthermore, it is submitted that Barron had implied power within the scope of his authority as a sales agent, to make the oral representations relied upon by Park, particularly in view of the fact that he was introducing a new feed and a new feeding method into a new territory and that his prospective customers had no means of ascertaining the quality and appropriateness of the feed and of the method for themselves.

The *Restatement of the Law of Agency*, sec. 63, states the rule as follows:

"Unless otherwise agreed, authority to sell includes authority to make such, and only such, representations

as the agent reasonably believes to be true and as are usual with reference to such a subject matter *or, in the absence of usage*, representations concerning qualities of the subject matter which, at the time, are not open to inspection and as to which the principal has reason to know the buyer will desire to be informed." (Emphasis supplied.)

And Mechem on Agency, cited above, states in sec. 881, p. 631 that there may be cases

"in which the making of a warranty of quality is so practically essential to the making of the sale as, *without proof of usage*, to justify the inference of the power *as a necessary incident of the authority to sell*. A number of cases have been put upon this ground. Thus, an agent for a distant principal, endeavoring to introduce a new article in a certain community, and who could not sell it unless it was warranted, has been held to have authority to warrant as a necessary incident to the authority to sell." (Emphasis supplied).

See also sec. 890, p. 636 of the same work:

"Thus, if the principal should send an agent out to introduce and sell a new article, as, for example, a new machine, a new article of food, a new medicine, and the like, authority to answer questions or to make statements, concerning such matters as would naturally and ordinarily arise under such circumstances, would properly be implied. Questions respecting the purpose of the article, the manner in which it might be safely handled, the conditions and circumstances under which it could be properly used, and the like, would fall within this principle."

In *International Harvester Co. v. Lawyer*, Okla., 155 Pac. 617 (1916) it was held that an agent with power to

sell an automobile in a new territory had implied authority to warrant that it would go over the particular roads and could go anywhere a team of mules could be driven (which was held an express warranty rather than a statement of opinion). The Court stated:

"In the case at bar, the defendant was seeking to introduce an automobile, untried and unproven in that particular section, and it seems most reasonable to presume that an agent, endeavoring to obtain some one who would stand sponsor for it there, owing to a general custom, had the implied power to warrant the same. If the reputation of the automobile in that vicinity had been so well established that it had become a staple, then this rule might not apply, but we believe it does apply most certainly when an untried article is sought to be introduced in a new field."

See also *Darks v. Scudders-Gale Grocer Co.*, 146 Mo. App, 246, 130 S.W. 430 (1910) where the court held the defendant company bound by the representations made by its agent in connection with the sale of a ginger extract, stating:

"The defendant permitted the agent to go into the field and solicit orders. In soliciting business for the defendant, questions would naturally come up concerning the quality and usefulness of the articles the agent was attempting to sell, and therefore statements made by the agent concerning the quality of the articles and the purposes for which they were intended must be within his apparent authority."

Cf. *Smith Table Co. v. Madsen*, 84 Pac. 885, 30 Utah 297 (1906) to the effect that a certain traveling salesman had power, within the apparent scope of his authority, to give a trade discount, and *Smith v. Droubay*, 20 Utah 443 (1899)

holding that a sales agent with power to make a contract also had power, as an incident to his employment, to fix the time for the delivery of the goods.

The case at bar falls directly under the principles of the above authorities. Neither Barron nor any other salesman could have sold a single bag of Mintrate in this state, had it not been for the representations made as to 65% egg yield together with the promise of a more simple and more economical feeding method. Thus, whether McCullough or anyone else in the company expressly or by implication authorized Barron to make an oral warranty, his power to warrant must be implied as a necessary incident to his authority to sell under the peculiar circumstances of the case. Under the above authorities no particular proof of custom to warrant is required under such circumstances.

The authorities relied upon by appellant on pages 28-38 of its brief are not inconsistent with this position. They are based on the principle that a salesman has no implied power to do anything that is unusual or extraordinary. As compared with the facts of these cases, there is nothing unusual in giving an oral warranty in the case at bar. There is no question, as these authorities hold, that a salesman has no implied power to take back merchandise, to modify the terms of a contract after it is complete, to sell for a lower price than instructed, or to warrant liquor against seizure under the revenue laws. All these powers are truly "unusual" or extraordinary. However, as is stated in *Friedman & Sons v. Kelly*, 126 Mo. App. 279, 102 S. W. 1066, quoted at length by appellant on p. 34 of its brief, while a traveling

salesman does not have authority to warrant whiskey against seizure under the revenue laws, he does have implied power to make warranties which are not unusual such as a warranty of the quality and condition of the whiskey sold.

The case of *Royal Seed and Milling Co. v. Thorne*, 142 Miss. 92 (1926), cited by appellant on p. 38 of its brief, does not relate to the implied authority of an agent, however. It holds that there was no implied warranty of fitness, and that the plaintiff who was the customer of the dealer could not recover against the manufacturer on the ground of breach of warranty.

It is conceivable, as appellant contends, that the making of a *written guarantee* binding a feed company to reimburse a customer in a certain amount would be held unusual, and not within the implied powers of a sales agent. But that is not true for oral representations without the help of which a sale in a new territory could not be expected by the company to be consummated. Also, defendant does not point to any significant evidence to the effect that *oral warranties* by feed companies are unusual. The plaintiff said he thought it was unusual for a feed company to give a *written guarantee* (R. 191), that he personally had not received an oral guarantee (R. 191); Mr. Wood of General Mills stated that he had not seen a written guarantee of the type Barron received before (R. 385); and Mr. Holmes, a director of the defendant company said that his company had not given express authority to make written or oral guarantees and had a policy against permitting them. Mr. Mittelberg testified, however, that nothing was said to the agents and employees of the company

about guarantees, that there was just no general permission given to execute guarantees (R. 803). See Mechem, sec. 887, p. 635 where the author states that

“evidence is not admissible to prove that it was not the custom of this particular principal to warrant, unless it be shown that the purchaser had notice of that fact, or that the agent was expressly forbidden to warrant, unless notice of such prohibition be brought home to the purchaser.”

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